ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES FOR THE THERAPY OF BRAIN TUMORS AND OTHER SOLID MALIGNANCIES: A REVIEW

Giulia Fulci and Ennio Antonio Chiocca

Molecular Neuro-Oncology Laboratories, Massachusetts General Hospital-East Building, CNY6, 13th Street, Charlestown, MA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

3. Viruses employed for therapy

3.1. Wild-type replication competent, viruses that display tumor specificity

- 3.1.1.Reovirus
- 3.1.2.Newcastle Disease Virus
- 3.1.3. Vesicular Stomatitis Virus
- 3.1.4.Vaccinia Virus
- 3.1.5.Autonomous Parvovirus
- 3.2. Genetically engineered oncolytic viruses
 - 3.2.1.Adenovirus
 - 3.2.2.Herpes Simplex Virus

3.2.3.Polyovirus

3.3.Limits and disadvantages of oncolytic viruses

4. Genetic modifications for engineering of oncolysis

4.1.Mutations to induce viral tumor specificity

- 4.1.1.Retargeting of viral entry
- 4.1.2. Retargeting of viral replication by complementation with cellular factors
- 4.1.3.Transcriptional retargeting

4.2. Further enhancement of therapeutic potential of oncolytic viruses

5. Clinical trials

6. Effect of the immune response on tumor oncolysis and future perspectives

7. References

1. ABSTRACT

In spite of significant advances in the understanding of molecular processes in tumor biology that have led to the development of oncologic therapeutic strategies, the prognosis for several types of tumors (such as brain, pancreas, or hepatic malignancies) remains dismal. Without question, a strong need exists for continued investigations in new agents and new therapeutic regimens.

The realization that several genes used by viruses in their lytic life cycle interact and/or complement the function of genes employed by cells in cellular events linked to cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and/or metabolism immediately suggests the development of treatment strategies wherein viral mutants could be employed as selective anticancer agents. Such viruses (designated as oncolytic viruses) can selectively grow in tumor cells, produce viral progeny in those cells, lyse them and release this progeny that can then infect additional cells in the tumor mass. A theoretical advantage of oncolytic viruses (OV) is that their numbers should augment within the tumor mass, a property that is lacking with drugs or radiation treatments. Additionally, Ovs' mode of tumor killing differs from standard anticancer agents, providing the possibility for synergistic interactions in multimodal tumor therapies.

In this review, we will describe the development of OVs and briefly review the life cycle of their wild-type (wt) counterparts. We will also summarize published results from OV clinical trials and attempt to provide a perspective on research in this area.

2. INTRODUCTION

In spite of significant advances in the understanding of molecular processes in tumor biology that have led to the development of oncologic therapeutic strategies, the prognosis for several types of tumors (such as primary brain, pancreas, or hepatic malignancies) remains dismal. Without question, a strong need exists for continued investigations in new agents and new therapeutic regimens. It is likely that no single treatment, but rather a combination of different treatments with different anticancer modalities can achieve this goal. New anticancer agents could be used in tumor therapy without inducing cross-resistance with current standard drug-based and radiation-based approaches.

Historically, several strains of viruses were used in an attempt to treat tumors. For instance, an Italian physician published in 1911 a report demonstrating spontaneous regression of cervical carcinoma after injection with a live rabies vaccine (1). After this report, several types of wt viruses continued then to be anecdotally used in tumor therapeutics: the strategy of employing an agent that could itself grow within a tumor and destroy it seemed propitious for therapeutic exploitation (2). However, the advent of modern chemotherapeutics and radiotherapeutics in the 1950s provided defined dosing and known chemical structures to the treatment of patients, an alternative that was more appealing than the use of undefined cellular lysates containing potentially pathogenic organisms, thus leading to a general absence of interest in the field of viral-based therapeutics. Interestingly, as gene therapy based on the use of viral vectors to deliver cDNAs into cells. became an active area of research in the late 1980s, exploitation of viruses as cancer-killing agents started to make a comeback in terms of research efforts. In fact, in 1991 Martuza et al. described the use of a herpes simplex virus (HSV) mutant (dlsptk) that appeared to destroy tumor cells in a relatively selective fashion (Table 1) (3). Since that report, numerous other types of genetically engineered viral mutants have been described and the field has advanced to the point of human clinical trials.

Additional advancements in this field have arisen from knowledge acquired in molecular virology. It is now evident that the life cycle of a virus involves multiple interactions between viral and cellular proteins/genes (for example the binding of the adenoviral E1B55Kd factor to p53 tumor suppressor protein), which maximize the ability of the virus to proliferate within the infected cell. Exploitation of such interactions has led to the design of interesting and sometimes complex strategies to selectively kill tumor and spare normal cells. The "ideal" OV should include all the following characteristics: a) specificity for tumor cells, b) rapid and effective lysis and propagation within a tumor, c) low or bearable toxicity, d) facility in engineering, e) facility in large scale production, f) genomic stability, g) possession of "failsafe" mechanisms for inactivation, and h) absence of potential spread to the general population and/or unwanted generation of toxic, undesirable mutants that could pose danger to the general population. The potential of current OVs for fulfilling all these criteria exists, but further manipulation of viral genomes to find better OVs will remain an active area of investigative development. Like the pharmaceutical quest for better anticancer drugs that target novel cancer processes, a virologic quest for improved OV that target such oncogenic events appears poised for interesting discoveries.

In this review, we plan to provide an overview of the different types of OVs, tested in preclinical and clinical models. We first describe the biologic features of wt strains of viruses, investigated for oncolytic tumor therapy. We then review the different modifications, made in these viruses, in order to improve their specificity for tumor cells and therapeutic efficiency. Finally, we will describe the current state of clinical trials in oncolytic viral therapy and provide a perspective in areas of future research.

3. VIRUSES EMPLOYED FOR THERAPY

A large variety of both RNA and DNA viruses have been tested as potential anticancer agents. In general, most of the tested viral species are relatively innocuous and endemically present in the general population, although it is evident that in particular cases (such as immunosuppression) most viral species can provoke illnesses of various severities. The modern history of oncolytic viral therapy shows that investigators have worked with either attenuated, yet wt, viral strains whose tumor specificity was a priori unknown or genetically engineered mutants whose tumor specificity was thus endowed by the engendered mutation(s). Examples of the first type include reovirus, Newcastle disease virus (NDV), vesicular stomatisis virus (VSV), vaccinia virus and autonomous parvovirus (APV), while adenovirus, herpes simplex virus (HSV) and poliovirus represent example of the second type.

3.1. Wild-type replication competent viruses that display tumor specificity 3.1.1. Reovirus

WT reovirus is mildly pathogenic and appears to widely spread in the human population, (approximately 70% of the human population is serologically positive). It displays tropism for epithelial cells of the respiratory and intestinal tracts and in neonates/children it is associated with mild respiratory and enteritic illnesses. Structurally, it is composed of an icosahedral capsid, which surrounds a core containing the double stranded RNA genome. Its genome encodes for a total of eleven proteins (4). Because of its double stranded RNA structure and the lack of dispensable genes, routine genetic manipulations of the virus remain difficult and have not been achieved so far. In fact, virological studies have employed the isolation of naturally occurring mutant strains for functional genetic analyses.

The oncolytic properties of reovirus were first observed by Klein et al. (Table 1), who noticed that mice infected with this virus developed humoral immunity to transplanted tumors (5). Even more interestingly, it was shown that mouse NIH 3T3 cells, which generally are impervious to reovirus replication, lost this resistance upon transfection with activated Ras. This suggested that reovirus could selectively replicate in cells with an activated Ras pathway (6). These data were confirmed by experiments performed in SCID mice showing that a single injection of reovirus was sufficient to induce a 65-80% tumor regression of transplanted U87 human glioblastoma cells, which exhibit an activated Ras pathway (6, 7). Indeed, the presence of reovirus transcripts induces activation of the double stranded activated protein kinase (PKR), which in turn inhibits RNA translation (8). Since other groups have shown a relation between the Ras pathway and PKR, it is postulated that activated Ras inhibits PKR activity and allows translation of reovirus transcripts (9). Clearly the identity of the factors and molecular events that link the Ras pathway to PKR remain to be elucidated. Given the high frequency of activated Ras pathway in human tumors, reovirus represents an attractive agent for oncolytic viral therapy and phase I/II clinical trials in patients with advanced lung, breast and colon cancer are in preparation (Table 1) (10).

3.1.2. Newcastle Disease Virus

NDV is a negatively stranded RNA virus responsible for Newcastle disease, a respiratory infection in avians. Although the molecular basis for the preferential

Viruses	Oncolytic strains	Tumor targeting mutations	Cythopatic mutations	Permissive cells	Tumors1	Clinical trials	Injection methods**	References
Viruses with in	nnate tumor spec	rificity						
reovirus	wt	none	none	ras + EGFR +	lung breast colon glioma	phase I	intra-tumoral	5-7,10
NDV	wt	none	none		bladder SCCHN ovarian	phase III	ex vivo	11-16
NDV	PV701	attenuated strain	none			phase I		138
/SV	wt	none	none	IFN-gamma -	melanoma	no	no	17-19
/accinia	wt	none	none	broad	melanoma	phase I	intra-tumoral	22
I-1 APV	wt	none	none	p53 -		phase I		28-30
4AV	wt	none	none	p53 -	colon	no	no	137
Deletion retar								
HSV-1	dlsptk	deleted HSV-TK	none	replicating	glioma	no	no	3
HSV-1	hrR3	deleted UL39 (ICP6)	none	replicating	glioma liver	no	no	66-69
HSV-1	R3616	deleted gamma-34.5 (ICP34.5)	none	ras +	glioma	no	no	70
HSV-1	G207	deleted UL39 and gamma-34.5	none	ras +/replicating	glioma	phase I	intra-tumoral	76-83
HSV-1	NV1020	deleted single copy of gamma- 34.5	none	replicating	colorectal	phase I	intratumoral	127
adenovirus	dl15202	deleted E1B-55kD	none	p53 - controversial	SCCHN3 colorectal ovarian pancreatic	phase I-III	intra-tumoral intra-peritoneal intra-arterial intra-venous	53,57,58
adenovirus	dl922-947	deleted E1A-CR2	none	pRb -	carcinomas	no	no	54-56
olyovirus	PV1 (RIPO)	IRES substitution	none	CD155 +	glioma	no	no	59
Franscription	al retargeting: ge	ene-promoter			•			
HSV-1	d120	ICP4-albumin enhancer	none	albumin +	HCC4	no	no	98
HSV-1	Myb34.5	gamma-34.5-Bmyb promoter	none	replicating	liver	no	no	102,103
adenovirus	AvE1a04i	E1A-AFP promoter	none	AFP +	HCC	no	no	104
adenovirus	CN706	E1A-PSA promoter	none	PSA +	prostate	phase I	intratumoral	106
adenovirus	Ad.DF3-E1	E1A-DF3/MUC1 promoter	none	MUC1 +	breast	no	no	107
denovirus	CV764	E1A-PSA promoter E1B-kallikrein promoter	none	PSA + kallikrein +	prostate	no	no	110
adenovirus	CN787	E1A-probasin promoter	none	PSA +	prostate	phase I	intravenous	111
adenovirus	HYPR-Ad	E1-HIF responsive elements	none	hypoxic	glioma	no	no	abstract
Modifications	enhancing thera	peutic efficiency						
ISV-1	rRp450	deleted UL39	insertion CYPB21	replicating	glioma	no	no	118
ISV-1	NV1023	deleted single copy of?gamma- 34.5	insertion IL12	replicating	colorectal	no	no	127
ISV-1	R8305	deleted gamma-34.5	insertion IL4	replicating	glioma	no	no	128
ISV-1	R8307	deleted gamma-34.5	insertion IL10	replicating	glioma	no	no	128
HSV-1	R47-delta	deleted gamma-34.5	deleted alpha-47	replicating	glioma	no	no	129
ISV-1	G47-delta	deleted UL39 and gamma-34.5	deleted alpha-47	replicating	glioma	no	no	129
denovirus	Ad.TKRC	deleted E1B-55kD	insertion HSV-TK	controversial	lung	no	no	113,114
denovirus	FGR	deleted E1B-55kD	insertion CD/HSV-TK	controversial	prostate	phase I	intratumoral	120
denovirus	01/PEME	insertion antagonist E2F under p53 control	<i>E3-11.6kD</i> under control of MLP	p53 -	PC3	no	no	96
denovirus	adl118	deleted E1B-55kD	deleted E1B-19kD	controversial	breast	no	no	122,123
denovirus	ONYX 300	deleted E1B-55kD	deleted ADP	controversial		no	no	124-126
denovirus	ONYX 305	deleted E1B-55kD	CD in ADP site	controversial		no	no	124-126
denovirus	ONYX 320	deleted E1B-55kD	TNF in ADP site	controversial		no	no	124-126
denovirus	Ad5/IFN	deleted E3	INF-con1in E3	p53 -	breast	no	no	135
/SV			insertion HSV-TK			no	no	20
/SV			insertion IL-4			no	no	20
			GM-CSF insertion	broad	melanoma	phase I	intra-lesional	22

Table 1. Oncolytic viruses in pre-clinical and clinical models.

¹The tumors indicated are the models used in pre-clinical and clinical studies, whereas the injection method includes only clinical trials, 2dl1520 is also called ONYX15, 3SCCHN= head and neck squamopus cell carcinoma, 4HCC= hepatocellular carcinoma

replication of NDV in tumor cells is not known, studies appear to show preference for cells with activated Ras (Table 1) (11, 12). NDV has been used as a direct oncolytic agent that is injected into tumor masses in animal models (11, 12). One characteristic of viral infection consists of the induction of innate and acquired humoral and cellular responses, leading to production of cytokines known to have anticancer effects, such as interferons and TNF-alpha (13). Therefore, NDV has also been used to infect tumor cells *ex vivo*, and the subsequent infected cell lysate is used as an autologous vaccine (14-16). This vaccination stratagem is now being tested in a phase III clinical trial (Table 1) (14-16).

3.1.3. Vesicular Stomatitis Virus

VSV is an enveloped single-stranded RNA virus that is not endemic to the human population. It naturally

infects cattle, horses and swine causing vesiculation and ulceration of the tongue and oral epithelia. The recent discovery that in mice it replicates in carcinoma and melanoma cells but not in primary epithelial cells (Table 1) evidenced its potential use as an oncolytic virus in tumor therapy (17). The molecular basis of its apparent tumor specificity has been recently linked to the IFN-gamma pathway, which is often defective in tumor cells (17). Murine experimental tumor models provide evidence for inhibition of VSV's anti-cancer potential when animals are treated with IFN-gamma (17). The connection between IFN-gamma and VSV is most probably mediated by PKR (18). Indeed, treatment of normal cells with IFN-gamma activates PKR and prevents viral replication, whereas tumor cells defective in IFN-gamma pathway components become permissive to viral replication and retain their permissiveness even in the presence of IFN-gamma (19).

Thus, IFN-gamma represents a potential mean to pharmaceutically inhibit further replication by this oncolytic virus, after completion of tumor therapy. Even though it has a small genome coding for only 5 genes, new recombinant strains of VSV carrying the *thymidine kinase* (*HSV-TK*) gene or the *interleukin-4* (*IL-4*) gene have been recently engineered (Table 1) (20). Unlike other RNA viruses, VSV has not reached the stage of testing its safety/effectiveness in clinical trials because of the toxicity induced in mice models. Natural attenuated strains of this virus have not been isolated and new recombinant strains carrying the five VSV genes in different positions are being studied as a mean to decrease the toxicity of this virus (21).

3.1.4. Vaccinia Virus

Vaccinia virus is the attenuated strain of smallpox virus and its historical role linked to Jenner's smallpox vaccine has rendered it one of the most widely known and used agents in human illness. In terms of oncolysis, both wt as well as a vaccinia virus mutant have been tested in phase I clinical trials (Table 1) (22). It is a relatively safe virus, with generally tolerable side effects. The most serious adverse events linked to use of this virus (in its vaccine setting) have been associated with immunocompromised patients (23). Vaccinia is a cytoplasmic virus that uses its own polymerases to replicate and transcribe viral DNA, which thus exists in an extrachromosomal state. Therefore, the chance of recombination with the host genome and generation of viral mutants is decreased. Moreover, distribution of this virus in the human population, because of use of similar mutant strains as vaccines in the past, should minimize the risk of Vaccinia virus infects most dangerous epidemics. mammalian cells and appears to induce tumor regression, not only through direct oncolysis but also through its elicitation of strong immune responses. The molecular explanation of the tumor selectivity of this virus has vet to be elucidated, but seems to be correlated to the increased permeability of tumor vessels (24). It has been estimated that the vaccinia genome could carry up to 25 kb of exogenous DNA (25). Therefore, engineering additional anticancer functions to the viral genome has been attempted, thus providing enhanced anticancer action (24, 26, 27).

3.1.5. H-1 Parvovirus

Parvoviruses are nonenveloped icosahedral single stranded DNA viruses. Their genome averages 5 kb, but packaging of an additional 15% of genetic material to its DNA content is possible. Three different strains of parvoviruses have been described in nature, but the most promising in tumor therapy is the autonomous rodent parvovirus H1 strain (Table 1) (28-30). It replicates in a broad range of human cells that enter S phase following virus entry. This strain does not enter latency, does not integrate, and exhibits minimal, if any, pathogenicity (28). Thus, these characteristics seem propitious for the use of H1 autonomous parvovirus as a vector for oncolytic therapy. Little is known about the molecular pathways that allow selective killing of tumor cells by this virus, but several studies have shown that mutation of the p53 tumor suppressor is required for the viral replication (29, 30).

Currently a phase 1 clinical trial using wt H-1 APV is underway (Table 1).

3.2. Genetically engineered oncolytic viruses 3.2.1 Herpes Simplex Virus

The HSV virion consists of a relatively complex structure that includes an envelope, a tegument and a capsid. The latter surrounds a core where the double stranded DNA is located in concentric layers (31). The binding of the virus to the cell membrane is mediated by attachment of the viral glycoproteins C and B to the cellular heparan sulfate proteoglycan, whereas entrance is mediated by the cell surface receptors HveA and HveC that bind to the viral glycoprotein D (32). HveA belongs to the tumor necrosis factor superfamily and its normal cellular function mediates transcription of several genes involved in eliciting the immune response, whereas HveC is the poliovirus receptor-related protein1, nectin 1 (32, 33). The viral capsid is further transported by the cytoskeleton to nuclear pores and the genome is released into the nucleus. Following circularization of the viral DNA in the nucleus, a tightly regulated temporal program of transcription of HSV genes begins. Based on this temporal program, HSV genes have been divided into three groups: a) immediate early genes encoding factors responsible for the transcription of the remaining viral genes as well for evasion from the immune system, b) early genes responsible for DNA metabolism, and c) late genes encoding for structural proteins of the virion (34).

OVs to date derive from HSV-1 that, in its wt state, is responsible for mucocutaneous lesions of the mouth, face and eyes (35). This virus enters the terminal dendrites of trigeminal nerve branches innervating the face and is transported to the neuronal cell body by retrograde axonal flow. Once in the trigeminal ganglion sensory neuron. HSV-1 can remain in a latent phase, in which the virus genome is transcriptionally silent, except for one coding area (the LAT related transcripts), whose function remains unknown. Occasionally, environmental stress factors will induce re-activation of HSV-1 in these neurons, induction of viral gene transcription, followed by entry into the lytic cycle and recurrence of the oral mucocutaneous lesions. Rarely, HSV-1 is responsible for a hemorrhagic encephalitis and meningitis in the brain (36). HSV-1 is endemic in humans and serologic studies reveal that 50 to 80% of the population possesses neutralizing immunity to the virus. The viral DNA remains in an extrachromosomal state and does not integrate in the host genome, thus limiting the possibility of recombination with the host genome and the occurrence of undesired viral mutants.

The major advantage of this virus is its large genome: 152 kB. Indeed, this virus offers an extremely vast possibility of genetic engineering for therapeutic purposes and new very efficient methodologies for this purpose have been recently developed (37). There are also very effective and widely available anti HSV-1 drugs (acyclovir, ganciclovir, valacyclovir) that can be used to curtail viral replication, a property that is not available with other OVs. HSV-1 appears to have generated the largest number of genetically engineered mutants for oncolytic therapy to date (Table 1) and clinical trials in gliomas and hepatic colorectal metastases have been and are being carried out (38, 39).

3.2.2. Adenovirus

More than 40 different adenovirus serotypes have been described, but the most widely investigated for gene and oncolytic viral therapy belong to serotypes 2 and 5. Several features render adenovirus an attractive candidate for oncolysis. It is endemic in the human population and its pathogenicity is associated only with mild respiratory infections (10). The major advantage of this virus is that it can be produced to relatively high titers (10^{10} pfu/ml) , and further concentrated to 10¹² pfu/ml. Since it does not integrate into the cell genome, but remains in an extrachromosomal state, risks for recombination and disruption of critical endogenous genes or formation of undesired viral mutants are minimized. Moreover, it has a large genome and recombinant technologies to remodel it are relatively easy and widely available. One of the major disadvantages of this virus is represented by its relatively high immunogenicity as well as associated concerns in its use due to toxicity and deaths in patients that were treated at very high doses in gene therapy trials. It is also not clear if the presence of adenovirus neutralizing antibodies and adenoviral immunity in the human population provides a major limitation to its effective and safe use.

Structurally, adenovirus consists of a nonenveloped 65-80 nm icosahedral capsid that encloses a linear double stranded DNA of approximately 38 kD. Viral attachment to the cell surface is mediated by two basic elements of the capsid: the fiber, that extends from each of the twelve vertices of the icosahedral capsid and, through its knob domain, binds the cosxackie-adenovirus receptor (CAR), and the penton, that recognizes the cellular integrins and together with the receptor CAR mediates the internalization of the virus through endocytosis (40-43). Upon internalization, the virus is transferred through the cellular endosomal system to the cytosol, from where it reaches the nuclear pores and its genome is translocated to the nucleus (42, 43). Transcription of the adenovirus genome commences at the *E1* locus, where gene products function by preventing the premature death of the cell during viral replicative cycle and by inducing the transcription of host genes that mediate cellular entry into S phase (44). These gene products include E1A that binds and inhibits cellular factors involved in blocking cell cycle progression, such as the retinoblastoma protein (pRb) and p300/CBP, the E1B-55 kD protein that binds and inhibits p53 thus inhibiting an apoptotic cellular antiviral response, and the anti-apoptotic factor E1B-19 kD, that is a viral homologue of the cellular anti-apoptotic factor bcl2 (45-48). The temporal progression of viral gene expression includes transcription of the E2 region, followed by transcription of the *E3* region. The latter includes the synthesis of proteins important for cell lysis, such as E3-11.6 kD and for evasion by the virus of immune system factors, such as E3-19 kD, E3 10.4/14.5 kD and 14.7 kD (49-51).

Although one of the largest clinical trials of viral therapy employed a wt adenovirus in the 1950s, the report by Bischoff et al. (1996) in which an E1B-55kD deleted

mutant adenovirus was shown to display selective replication in p53-deficient tumor cells resurrected the use of this virus as a form of cancer therapy (52, 53). Since this report, adenoviral mutants in E1A have been shown to target tumor cells with defects in the pRb tumor suppressor pathway and another adenoviral mutant has been recently engineered in which robust viral replication becomes associated with p53 cellular defects (54-56). The E1B-55kD mutant has been tested in clinical trials for a multitude of cancers and recently it has shown encouraging results in a phase II trial in head and neck patients when combined with chemotherapy (Table 1) (57, 58).

3.2.3. Poliovirus

Poliovirus is a non-enveloped DNA virus and it is the causative agent of paralytic poliomelytis. The wt poliovirus selectively targets motor neurons through the interaction with the Ig superfamily receptor CD155 that is present also in glioma cells and its lytic cycle is restricted to neuronal cells through the internal ribosome site entry (IRES) element (59). A mutant form of this virus has been engineered to selectively target glioma cells (see below), but has not been used in clinical trials yet.

3.3. Limits and disadvantages of oncolytic viruses

Even though these novel agents for tumor therapy seem very promising, evaluation of their real effectiveness awaits results from clinical trials. It should be noted that each virus might exhibit or possess limitations that could hamper its use and effectiveness.

OVs such as VSV, reovirus, H1 APV and NDV are difficult to work with genetically and, thus, further genetic refinements to augment oncolytic efficacy and minimize toxicity may be arduous. On the contrary, genetic manipulations of HSV-1 or adenoviral genomes have become relatively standard for a number of laboratories. Nevertheless, safety concerns will always exist with these viruses and their mutant OVs. Furthermore, in many patients, wt adenovirus and HSV-1 may already be present and it is not known if this will pose a risk during tumor treatment with their recombinant OV derivatives. However, it appears that in initial clinical trials evidence for such recombinatorial events has not been observed (see below and Table 1).

Finally, the effects of the immune system on viral infection and propagation may cause deleterious effects to the patient. Such effects have not been fully studied, yet would seem to be an important and fertile area of investigative research.

4. GENETIC MODIFICATIONS FOR ENGINEERING OF ONCOLYSIS

4.1. Mutations to induce viral tumor specificity

There have been three primary types of modifications in the genome of viruses with the objective of increasing their tumor specificity. First of all, retargeting of viral attachment and entry into cells by genetic modifications of viral surface polypeptides responsible for viral entry has been primarily carried out with adenovirus. Second, appropriate genetic alterations can be carried out to viral genes to attempt to target viral replication to tumor cells. Finally, tumor-specific promoters can be employed to drive expression of viral genes. Each of these genetic alterations has been shown to provide increased specificity for tumor cell versus normal cell lysis.

4.1.1. Retargeting of viral entry

Knowledge about the mechanism of initial viral entry into cells provides several strategies aimed at increasing viral tumor selectivity. For instance. bifunctional antibodies have been used to link viral surface molecules to a desired surface peptide on target cells. This stratagem has been employed with anti-adenovirus knob antibodies conjugated with folate, fibroblast growth factor, or anti-EGFR antibody (60, 61). One problem with this technology is that antibody-ligand binding is potentially unstable. Thus, several genetically engineered viral strains carrying modifications on the structural envelope proteins responsible for virus-cell interactions have been developed (62, 63). It was hoped that such redirected viral mutants would display retargeted characteristics toward tumor cells. However, alterations in viral entry molecules can end up limiting effective infection and entry (64). This has proven to be particularly true with HSV-1 where 11 viral glycoproteins are involved in virus-cell entry, attachment and exit. Because adenoviral entry involves primarily knob interactions with CAR, retargeting of this virus may be more easily accomplished. Even though these strategies of virus retargeting seem appealing, they have not yet been tested in clinical trials. Further research aimed at identifying small tumor-specific peptides may also provide additional tools for more effective retargeting of viral cell entry (65).

4.1.2. Retargeting of viral replication by complementation with cellular factors

Several viral genes are essential for replication in normal cells, but can become dispensable in replicating cells. Thus, a variety of OVs with total or partial deletion(s) of such genes have been engineered. The first deletion mutant was originated from HSV-1 by deleting the HSV-TK gene (dlsptk, Table 1) (3). The oncolytic dlsptk exhibited attenuated neurovirulence and an efficient therapeutic profile in glioma models (3). Further, the hrR3 HSV-1 strain containing an Escherichia coli LacZ gene instead of the early gene *UL39* was engineered (Table 1) (66, 67). UL39 encodes for the ribonucleotide reductase ICP6, essential for HSV-1 replication in normal cells, but dispensable in actively replicating host cells (67). The therapeutic potential of this OV was shown in immunocompetent mice with liver metastasis in colon, where a single intravascular injection of hrR3 was able to reduce the tumor and in rats with brain neoplasia (68, 69). Another HSV-1 derived oncolytic strain (R3616) was obtained through deletion of the neurovirulence gene gamma-34.5 coding for the ICP34.5 factor (Table 1) (70). The latter enzyme is responsible for disrupting the host cells defense mechanism by antagonizing PKR activity (71, 72). Indeed, PKR inhibits, through phosphorylation, the HSV initiation translation factor eIF-2-alpha, essential for

the translation of HSV mRNAs, whereas ICP34.5 binds the protein phosphatase 1-alpha and redirects it to dephosphorylate eIF-2-alpha, thus enabling the synthesis of viral proteins (73). Activated Ras pathway downregulates PKR and allows HSV replication also in the absence of ICP34.5 (74, 75). In fact, the R3616 mutant was shown to maintain the capacity to replicate in glioma cells with activated Ras (70). For safety issues further research in HSV oncolytic strains led to the construction of double HSV deletion mutant G207 (Table 1), with disrupted both the gamma-34.5 and the UL39 genes (76). The oncolytic potential of this virus was tested in animal models for several tumor types such as colon, ovarian, breast, prostate, head and neck squamous cell cancers, melanoma and bladder (77-83). The results obtained from these preclinical studies allowed the use of G207 OV in a phase 1 clinical trial.

The adenovirus mutant dl1520 (also called ONYX-015 and CI-1042) is deleted for the E1B-55kD gene, responsible of inhibiting p53-dependent apoptosis, and can replicate only in cells with a disrupted p53 tumor suppressor pathway (Table 1) (53, 84). Replication of this mutant OV was the first to be associated with a defect in a tumor suppressor pathway. This has generated considerable enthusiasm for its preclinical and clinical use, particularly since more than 50% of tumors have a mutant TP53 gene and even more possess defects in one of the genes that modulate p53 expression (85, 86). In spite of this early enthusiasm, there have been reports that have contradicted the mechanism of dl1520 selectivity, based on finding tumor cells with a normal TP53 gene that still supported replication of the mutant virus (53, 87-92). Three hypotheses may explain the contradictory results. First, adenovirus E4orf6 that also interacts with p53 may affect replication of dl1520 in wt p53 cells (93). Second, it is hypothesized that E1B-55 kD may have other functions than binding to wt p53, that could allow its replication in wt p53 cells. Finally (and probably the most likely explanation), deletion of *p14ARF* or amplification of *MDM2* may again result in permissive dl1520 replication in wt p53 cells (94). Indeed, p14ARF and mdm2 regulate cellular levels and function of p53 and their expression is frequently altered in human tumors with wt p53, providing an alternative mechanism to p53 inhibition (95). Clinical trials with dl1520 have revealed that it is relatively safe in humans. Ultimately, this may be due to its relatively poor burst size/replication even in permissive mutant p53 cells (58).

Adenovirus dl922-947 (Table 1) has small deletions in the region coding for E1A-CR2 and grows selectively in cells that have disrupted pRb (54). Indeed, E1A-CR2 codes for a protein able to bind and inactivate pRb, thus promoting entry into the cell cycle. Interestingly, this virus strain has a much higher therapeutic efficiency than dl1520. This might be explained by the fact that the E1B-55 kD is completely disrupted in dl1520 therefore, other functions of this protein are lost, whereas only small regions of E1A-CR2 are deleted in dl922-947. Given the multifunctional characteristic of many viral proteins, targeted deletions might be more efficient than whole gene

deletions. In order to overcome the problems caused by gene deletions, Ramachandra et al. have constructed a replication selective adenovirus (01/PEME) expressing an antagonist of the E2F protein under the control of a *TP53* promoter (Table 1) (96). E2F is a transcription factor essential for the activation of the cell cycle and for the transcription of viral replication proteins. E2F activity is inhibited by pRb, but in tumor cells the pRb/E2F complex is frequently deregulated (97). Thus, insertion of an E2F antagonist containing the E2F DNA binding domain and a pRb transrepression domain under the control of a p53 promoter, will inhibit viral replication in wt p53 cells, but not in those disrupted for p53.

Finally, a novel OV was obtained from poliovirus (PV1 (RIPO)). In this case, the deletion consisted of an IRES element, which is essential for virulence in cells of neuronal origin. Gromeier et al. have demonstrated that substitution of the poliovirus IRES element with the IRES element of a rhinovirus type 2, inhibited neuronal infection of this poliovirus mutant, but still allowed infection of glioma cells (Table 1) (59).

4.1.3. Transcriptional retargeting

Another approach to target replicative viruses to tumor cells consists in exploiting tumor-specific promoters to induce the viral lytic cycle. Miyatake et al. have used an HSV-1 mutant deleted for both ICP4 genes to build a new virus strain (d120) harboring an albumin enhancer/promoter-ICP4 transgene in the HSV-TK locus (Table 1) (98). ICP4 is an essential immediate early gene product for HSV-1 transcription, thus, viruses deleted for this gene can not undergo the lytic cycle (99, 100). Moreover, viruses deleted for HSV-TK gene possess poor replicative capacity in non-dividing cells. Hence, this construct guarantees replication of the virus only in replicating cells expressing albumin. In human adults only hepatocytes and hepatocellular carcinomas express albumin and this viral construct was shown to selectively replicate in hepatocellular carcinomas (98, 101). Nevertheless, the presence of albumin expression in normal hepatocytes, poses safety concerns for the clinical use of this OV.

Similarly, the HSV-1 derived Myb34.5 OV has the gamma-34.5 gene under the control of the E2F responsive cellular *B-myb* promoter (Table 1) and was shown to induce cell lysis only in actively dividing cells (102). The same virus was successfully used in preclinical studies on mice with diffuse liver metastases through intravascular injection (103).

The oncolytic adenovirus AvE1a04i (Table 1) was constructed by engineering the E1A protein (essential for adenovirus replication) under the control of the alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) promoter and can replicate only in hepatocellular carcinomas (HCC) that express AFP (Table 1) (104). AFP is present in about 70-80% HCC and absent in normal cells (105). A similar strategy was adopted to target prostate tumors using the minimal enhancer/promoter of the human prostate specific antigen (PSA) (CN706 virus, currently in phase 1 clinical trials) and to target breast carcinomas using the promoter of the *DF3/MUC1*

gene over-expressed in breast and other carcinomas (Table 1) (106-109). CN706 has been further modified (CV764) by adding the human kallikrein promoter to control *E1B* expression, (Table 1) (110). A second generation virus, CN787, derived from the oncolytic mutant CN706 and harboring the *E1A* gene under the rat probasin promoter and *E1B* under the *PSA* promoter is currently in trials using an intravenous mode of administration (Table 1) (111).

Finally, an oncolytic adenovirus containing the *E1* region under the control of a hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) responsive element (HYPR-Ad) and targeting only hypoxic cells was recently constructed (Table 1). This strategy is of relevance considering that all solid tumors have large hypoxic areas. The tumor selectivity of this virus was demonstrated for subcutaneus tumors of human glioblastoma cells in immunocompromised mice (abstract in Neuro-Oncology 3, 2001).

4.2. Further enhancements of the therapeutic potential of oncolytic viruses

Several strategies based on viral genetic engineering have been adopted to enhance the therapeutic efficiency of OVs. The resulting virus strains are listed (Table 1).

First of all, OVs have been engineered to carry cDNAs able to activate pro-drugs (112). The first example of combining oncolytic viral therapy with antitumor prodrugs was illustrated by treating syngeneic 9L rat gliomas with ganciclovir and an oncolytic HSV expressing the HSV-TK gene. These experiments show that combination of OVs with ganciclovir/HSV-TK treatment was much more efficient than either strategy alone (69). Thereafter, Wildner et al. engineered the oncolytic adenovirus dl1520 with HSV-TK (Ad.TKRC) and showed again an increased therapeutic efficiency (113, 114). Nevertheless. the combination of oncolytic viral therapy with ganciclovir treatment was not always successful. Indeed, other groups have shown that addition of ganciclovir did not increase the anti-tumor efficiency of an HSV-TK expressing oncolytic adenovirus (115, 116). This might be explained by the fact that ganciclovir kills the virus, thus impeding the viral intratumoral spread. As discussed in Aghi et al., the addition of prodrug-activating gene therapies, which possess both antitumor and antiviral action, may lead to different effects (117). In cells in which the virus replicates well and in which gap junctional communication is relatively poor (i.e. possess a weak bystander effect), the antiviral action of activated ganciclovir predominates over its anticancer action. Therefore, activated GCV would impede the viral oncolytic effect, leading to an antagonistic action. However, if viral replication is relatively poor and gap junctional communication is strong, ganciclovir activation would augment the viral oncolytic effect.

Seeking prodrug-activating genes that convert drugs into metabolites that possess primarily anticancer and not antiviral action, an HSV-based OV was engineered with the *CYP2B1* transgene in the ICP6 region (rRp450) (118). The *CYP2B1* cDNA is able to activate the cyclophosphamide (CPA) and ifosfamide prodrugs into anti-cancer agents. Combined tumor treatment with rRp450 and one of the prodrugs mentioned above gave strong enhanced antitumor efficiency. This might also be explained by recent discoveries showing that CPA plays an important role in facilitating the intratumoral spread of the virus (119). The best therapeutic effects were obtained by using a combination of multiple pro-drug activating gene therapies with OVs as delivery systems. Examples are given by CPA and ganciclovir treatment in combination with either the rRp450 HSV virus, carrying both HSV-TK and CYP2B1, or the adenovirus variant FGR, carrying a cytosine deaminase gene (CD) fused to HSV-TK (117, 120). In this regard it is interesting to mention the recent generation of a bidirectional HIF responsive expression vectors that can be used to target hypoxic cells with multiple cytopathic cDNAs (121). To increase the cytotoxicity of the adenovirus derived 01/PEME oncolytic strain a copy of the viral major late promoter (MLP) was introduced in the E3 region to overexpress the viral lytic protein E3-11.6K (96). Similarly, deletion of the antiapoptotic adenovirus gene *E3-19kD* (adl118) potentates adenovirus intratumoral spread (122, 123).

An opposite strategy of oncolytic therapy was recently tested. This strategy is based in delaying the viral cytotoxicity (instead of enhancing it) in order to increase the time of viral protein synthesis and consequently the expression of the transgene. Thus, two different adenovirus-derived oncolytic mutants were constructed by substituting the ADP gene, involved in inducing cell apoptosis, with either the bacterial CD gene (ONYX 305), or the human tumor necrosis factor (TNF-alpha) (ONYX 320) (124-126).

Additional modifications in viral genomes have been carried out with the intent of activating antitumoral immune responses. For example, an HSV-derived mutant (NV1023) was engineered to express interleukine 12 (IL12) (127). In this example, the presence of IL12 allowed for the same therapeutic effects on colon cancer with a reduced dose of virus (127). The HSV derived R3616 oncolytic mutant was engineered with either IL4 or IL10 gene (R8305 and R8307, respectively) (128). The first one showed a significant increase in anti tumor responses, whereas the second was not as effective (128). Two HSV derived OVs, G47delta and R47delta?were obtained by deleting the alpha-47 gene from the G207 and R3616 strains, respectively (129). This deletion was performed with the goal of disrupting viral ability to evade MHC-1 activation (130, 131). Indeed, alpha-47 gene codes for the ICP47 factor which functions as an inhibitor of the transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP), which in turn is responsible for MHC class I molecules loading (132-134). These viruses were shown to induce CTL responses that led to more efficient tumor regression compared to the parental strains G207 and R3616 (129). Finally, the adenovirus derived OV strain Ad5/IFN was originated by inserting the human consensus IFN gene (IFN-con1) in the E3 region (135), and vaccinia virus mutants have been engineered by insertion of the cytokine GM-CSF (136).

The recent discovery that, the single stranded hairpin DNA adeno-associated virus (AAV) triggers death of cells with disrupted p53, through a DNA damage response opens new horizons for the production of OVs (137). Indeed, the data reported by Raj et al. clearly indicate that viruses can be used to deliver DNA of unusual structure to induce a DNA damage response that kills selectively cells with disrupted p53 (137).

5. CLINICAL TRIALS

Several clinical trials have been performed or are underway using some of the aforementioned OVs (Table 1). The results of these clinical trials are widely described by Kirn et al. and Norman et al. (44, 138). The important questions addressed by these trials are: -1) how safe is the therapeutic strategy in use?- 2) would it be safe to use systemic delivery strategies of OVs to treat patients with metastases, infiltrating malignancies and multiple tumors?-3) could the combination of OVs with other therapeutic strategies increase anti-tumor efficiency? In order to answer all these questions, the general strategy in use is to sequentially dose-escalate the viruses and, if safety is demonstrated, combination of oncolytic viral therapy with other therapeutic strategies and systemic virus delivery modalities are tested.

Adenovirus derived dl1520 strain was tested in phase 1 and 2 trials with several tumors and four different routes of administration: intratumoral, intraperitoneal, intraarterial, and intravenous (139). In all cases safety was demonstrated, but with little evidence of tumor regression. However, combination of viral delivery and chemotherapy showed a synergistic antitumoral action in head and neck cancers and liver metastasis (57). It is important to notice that. following intra-arterial and intra-venous administration of dl1520, a strong increase in acute inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, TNF-alpha and IFN-gamma, was observed (140). These may have been responsible for transient febrile events experienced by some patients.

The prostate specific oncolytic adenoviruses CN706 and CN787 were tested through intratumoral and intravenous delivery, respectively, in phase 1 trials. The results with CN787 are not yet published, whereas CN706 was demonstrated to be safe (138).

Treatments of brain tumors present additional difficulties that are not found in other organs. The presence of the blood brain barrier (BBB) and/or blood tumor barrier (BTB) limits the penetration of OVs into the brain tumor. Indeed, treatment of brain tumors with OVs in combination with drugs that increase the permeability of the BBB and BTB has shown to increase significantly the therapeutic efficiency, specially with intravenous and/or intrathecal injections (141, 142). Moreover, recent results indicate that also the pericapillary basement membrane can trap and inhibit the brain entry of several therapeutic agents (142). In pre-clinical models several HSV-1 delivery methods have been analyzed for the treatment of brain tumors, including intratumoral, intravascular, intraartherial and intrathecal, but only the intratumoral delivery has been tested in human patients. In particular, the intrathecal injection of the HSV derived oncolytic strain hrR3 for the

treatment of pediatric disseminating tumors in a rat model has shown an increased anti-tumor effect, yet some toxicity was observed, possibly because of ependymal and subependymal cell infections (143, 144). HSV-derived OVs G207 and HSV 1716 were demonstrated to be safe in phase 1 clinical trials using intratumoral injections (38, 39).

Trials with vaccinia viruses expressing tumor antigen or proinflammatory cytokines have tried to elicit immunostimulatory effects and, in general, have shown evidence of relative safety (136, 145-147). A phase I clinical trial with an attenuated form of NDV (PV701), injected intravenously, has recently been published and has also shown the relative safety of this OV up to a certain dose (139).

An important physiological element that could be responsible for the poor therapeutic efficiency obtained in clinical trials is the tumor interstitial pressure. This is an important factor in determining the fluid movement across the vessel walls and thus the connective delivery of large therapeutic molecules to tumor cells. Stohrer et al. have recently measured the oncotic interstitial pressure of several human carcinomas implanted in nude mice, and have shown that it is significantly greater than the one in normal tissues (148). The increased pressure in these malignancies can be explained with the leaky aspect of tumor vessels (148). Therefore, the delivery of anti-angiogenic agents in combination with oncolytic viral therapy should be considered (149).

6. EFFECT OF THE IMMUNE RESPONSE ON TUMOR ONCOLYSIS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Several OVs have been constructed and tested in preclinical and clinical models. The results obtained until now are encouraging but clearly additional work needs to be done. The safety of these viruses was demonstrated but their antitumoral efficiency was weak and several questions have risen and are still unanswered. The role of the immune system in oncolytic viral therapy is still almost unexplored. It is well known that humans have developed sophisticated immune strategies to defend themselves from viruses and, on the other hand, viruses have developed strategies to evade the host immune responses (150, 151). Nevertheless, very little is known about the immune molecular pathways elicited by OVs. This subject is particularly important considering that most humans express neutralizing antibodies specific for the OVs currently in use. Indeed, the presence of these antibodies may limit the efficiency of the oncolytic viral therapy. Results obtained from clinical studies have shown a strong induction of cytokines followed by systemic delivery of OVs and experiments performed on rats show that intravascular delivery of the HSV derived hrR3 OV is inhibited by the classical pathway of the complement and anticipate the existence of a natural antibody recognizing hrR3 (119, 139, 152). In the same study, the authors show that inhibition of B cell maturation by CPA treatment significantly increased the therapeutic efficiency of hrR3. Even though CPA is currently used in tumor therapy and seems to be efficient, general inhibition of the immune system can have a negative therapeutic drawback. Indeed, the immune system plays also

an important antitumoral role and several OVs have been developed with the goal to induce immune responses. Thus, a very interesting point to examine would be to what extent repressing or, on the other hand, eliciting the immune system can potentate oncolytic viral therapy. Moreover, it would be important to distinguish the molecular pathways that induce viral killing from those that induce tumor cells killing.

These types of studies are limited by the lack of an immunocompetent model for the therapy of human tumors with OVs. Moreover, immune responses induced by OVs are species specific and experiments performed on mice can give only quantitative but not qualitative indications of the immunologic pathways that would be elicited in humans (153). Until now the construction of OVs to be used in tumor therapy was based on the assumption that the therapy will be more efficient if the virus is more cytopathic, if the antiviral immune response is inhibited and if a tumor-specific immune response is elicited. Nevertheless, the data we have today indicate that the relation between viral cytopathic effect or viral induced immunity and a successful tumor therapy is more complex and the above assumptions have been revised with a mathematical model (154). This model anticipates the consequences that could derive following specific viral engineering and enlightens the future perspectives of this antitumoral strategy. Three different scenarios are taken in consideration in this model: the virus induced lysis of tumor cells, a virus specific CTL response, a tumor specific immune response that contributes with the virus to tumor eradication.

The results obtained through the theoretical analysis of these scenarios indicate that, to obtain an optimal therapeutic effect with OVs the growth rate of infected and uninfected cells must be taken in consideration. If the uninfected cells grow quicker than the infected cells, it is better to use a virus with low cytopathic effect, otherwise viral production will be too low compared to the number of cells within a growing tumor. On the other hand, if the infected cells grow faster it is worth to engineer the virus in a way to increase its cytopathic effect.

Similarly, the virus specific immune response can also have positive consequences. If the virus is not very cytopathic and the infected cells grow faster than the noninfected ones, activation of CTL could increase the lysis of infected cells and the release of the virus. Finally, this model strongly encourages the construction of viruses inducing tumor specific immune responses.

In conclusion, the field of OVs appears ready to fulfill its potential: generation of more effective OVs coupled with knowledge of their interaction with cellular factors and host immune responses could provide a series of agents that will enter the oncologic armamentarium.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. De Pace, N. G.: *Ginecologia* 9, 82 (1912)
- 2. Webb, H. E. & Smith, C. E.: Viruses in the treatment of cancer. *Lancet* 1, 1206-1208 (1970)
- 3. Martuza, R. L., Malick, A., Markert, J. M., Ruffner, K.
- L. & Coen, D. M.: Experimental therapy of human glioma

by means of a genetically engineered virus mutant. *Science* 252, 854-856. (1991)

4. Yue, Z. & Shatkin, A. J.: Enzymatic and control functions of reovirus structural proteins. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 233, 31-56. (1998)

5. Klein, P. A.: Antibody-mediated immunity to transplantable tumors following reovirus oncolysis. *Pathol Microbiol* 30, 222-245 (1967)

6. Coffey, M. C., Strong, J. E., Forsyth, P. A. & Lee, P. W.: Reovirus therapy of tumors with activated Ras pathway. *Science* 282, 1332-1334. (1998)

7. Strong, J. E., Coffey, M. C., Tang, D., Sabinin, P. & Lee, P. W.: The molecular basis of viral oncolysis: usurpation of the Ras signaling pathway by reovirus. *Embo J* 17, 3351-3362. (1998)

8. Bischoff, J. R. & Samuel, C. E.: Mechanism of interferon action. Activation of the human P1/eIF-2 alpha protein kinase by individual reovirus s-class mRNAs: s1 mRNA is a potent activator relative to s4 mRNA. *Virology* 172, 106-115. (1989)

9. Mundschau, L. J. & Faller, D. V.: Oncogenic ras induces an inhibitor of double-stranded RNA-dependent eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha-kinase activation. *J Biol Chem* 267, 23092-23098. (1992)

10. Galanis, E., Vile, R. & Russell, S. J.: Delivery systems intended for in vivo gene therapy of cancer: targeting and replication competent viral vectors. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 38, 177-192. (2001)

11. Lorence, R. M., Katubig, B. B., Reichard, K. W., Reyes, H. M., Phuangsab, A., Sassetti, M. D., Walter, R. J. & Peeples, M. E.: Complete regression of human fibrosarcoma xenografts after local Newcastle disease virus therapy. *Cancer Res* 54, 6017-6021 (1994)

12. Lorence, R. M., Reichard, K. W., Katubig, B. B., Reyes, H. M., Phuangsab, A., Mitchell, B. R., Cascino, C. J., Walter, R. J. & Peeples, M. E.: Complete regression of human neuroblastoma xenografts in athymic mice after local Newcastle disease virus therapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 86, 1228-1233 (1994)

13. Schirrmacher, V., Ahlert, T., Probstle, T., Steiner, H. H., Herold-Mende, C., Gerhards, R. & Hagmuller, E.: Immunization with virus-modified tumor cells. *Semin Oncol* 25, 677-696. (1998)

14. Cassel, W. A., Murray, D. R. & Phillips, H. S.: A phase II study on the postsurgical management of Stage II malignant melanoma with a Newcastle disease virus oncolysate. *Cancer* 52, 856-860. (1983)

15. Batliwalla, F. M., Bateman, B. A., Serrano, D., Murray, D., Macphail, S., Maino, V. C., Ansel, J. C., Gregersen, P. K. & Armstrong, C. A.: A 15-year follow-up of AJCC stage III malignant melanoma patients treated postsurgically with Newcastle disease virus (NDV) oncolysate and determination of alterations in the CD8 T cell repertoire. *Mol Med* 4, 783-794. (1998)

16. Liebrich, W., Schlag, P., Manasterski, M., Lehner, B., Stohr, M., Moller, P. & Schirrmacher, V.: In vitro and clinical characterisation of a Newcastle disease virusmodified autologous tumour cell vaccine for treatment of colorectal cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer* 27, 703-710 (1991)

17. Stojdl, D. F., Lichty, B., Knowles, S., Marius, R., Atkins, H., Sonenberg, N. & Bell, J. C.: Exploiting tumor-

specific defects in the interferon pathway with a previously unknown oncolytic virus. *Nat Med* 6, 821-825. (2000)

18. Williams, B. R.: PKR; a sentinel kinase for cellular stress. *Oncogene* 18, 6112-6120. (1999)

19. Stojdl, D. F., Abraham, N., Knowles, S., Marius, R., Brasey, A., Lichty, B. D., Brown, E. G., Sonenberg, N. & Bell, J. C.: The murine double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR is required for resistance to vesicular stomatitis virus. *J Virol* 74, 9580-9585. (2000)

20. Fernandez, M., Porosnicu, M., Markovic, D. & Barber, G. N.: Genetically engineered vesicular stomatitis virus in gene therapy: application for treatment of malignant disease. *J Virol* 76, 895-904 (2002)

21. Flanagan, E. B., Zamparo, J. M., Ball, L. A., Rodriguez, L. L. & Wertz, G. W.: Rearrangement of the genes of vesicular stomatitis virus eliminates clinical disease in the natural host: new strategy for vaccine development. *J Virol* 75, 6107-6114 (2001)

22. Mastrangelo, M. J., Eisenlohr, L. C., Gomella, L. & Lattime, E. C.: Poxvirus vectors: orphaned and underappreciated. *J Clin Invest* 105, 1031-1034. (2000)

23. Moss, B.: Genetically engineered poxviruses for recombinant gene expression, vaccination, and safety. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 11341-11348. (1996)

24. McCart, J. A., Ward, J. M., Lee, J., Hu, Y., Alexander, H. R., Libutti, S. K., Moss, B. & Bartlett, D. L.: Systemic cancer therapy with a tumor-selective vaccinia virus mutant lacking thymidine kinase and vaccinia growth factor genes. *Cancer Res* 61, 8751-8757 (2001)

25. Smith, G. L. & Moss, B.: Infectious poxvirus vectors have capacity for at least 25 000 base pairs of foreign DNA. *Gene* 25, 21-28. (1983)

26. Puhlmann, M., Gnant, M., Brown, C. K., Alexander, H. R. & Bartlett, D. L.: Thymidine kinase-deleted vaccinia virus expressing purine nucleoside phosphorylase as a vector for tumor-directed gene therapy. *Hum Gene Ther* 10, 649-657 (1999)

27. Gnant, M. F., Berger, A. C., Huang, J., Puhlmann, M., Wu, P. C., Merino, M. J., Bartlett, D. L., Alexander, H. R., Jr. & Libutti, S. K.: Sensitization of tumor necrosis factor alpha-resistant human melanoma by tumor-specific in vivo transfer of the gene encoding endothelial monocyteactivating polypeptide II using recombinant vaccinia virus. *Cancer Res* 59, 4668-4674 (1999)

28. Shaughnessy, E., Lu, D., Chatterjee, S. & Wong, K. K.: Parvoviral vectors for the gene therapy of cancer. *Semin Oncol* 23, 159-171. (1996)

29. Telerman, A., Tuynder, M., Dupressoir, T., Robaye, B., Sigaux, F., Shaulian, E., Oren, M., Rommelaere, J. & Amson, R.: A model for tumor suppression using H-1 parvovirus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 8702-8706. (1993)

30. Moehler, M., Blechacz, B., Weiskopf, N., Zeidler, M., Stremmel, W., Rommelaere, J., Galle, P. R. & Cornelis, J. J.: Effective infection, apoptotic cell killing and gene transfer of human hepatoma cells but not primary hepatocytes by parvovirus H1 and derived vectors. *Cancer Gene Ther* 8, 158-167 (2001)

31. Zhou, Z. H., Chen, D. H., Jakana, J., Rixon, F. J. & Chiu, W.: Visualization of tegument-capsid interactions and DNA in intact herpes simplex virus type 1 virions. *J Virol* 73, 3210-3218. (1999)

32. Montgomery, R. I., Warner, M. S., Lum, B. J. & Spear, P. G.: Herpes simplex virus-1 entry into cells mediated by a novel member of the TNF/NGF receptor family. *Cell* 87, 427-436. (1996)

33. Geraghty, R. J., Krummenacher, C., Cohen, G. H., Eisenberg, R. J. & Spear, P. G.: Entry of alphaherpesviruses mediated by poliovirus receptor-related protein 1 and poliovirus receptor. *Science* 280, 1618-1620 (1998)

34. Roizman, B.: The function of herpes simplex virus genes: a primer for genetic engineering of novel vectors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 11307-11312. (1996)

35. Jacobs, A., Breakefield, X. O. & Fraefel, C.: HSV-1based vectors for gene therapy of neurological diseases and brain tumors: part I. HSV-1 structure, replication and pathogenesis. *Neoplasia* 1, 387-401. (1999)

36. Whitley, R. J., Kimberlin, D. W. & Roizman, B.: Herpes simplex viruses. *Clin Infect Dis* 26, 541-553; quiz 554-545. (1998)

37. Saeki, Y., Fraefel, C., Ichikawa, T., Breakefield, X. O. & Chiocca, E. A.: Improved helper virus-free packaging system for HSV amplicon vectors using an ICP27-deleted, oversized HSV-1 DNA in a bacterial artificial chromosome. *Mol Ther* 3, 591-601 (2001)

38. Markert, J. M., Medlock, M. D., Rabkin, S. D., Gillespie, G. Y., Todo, T., Hunter, W. D., Palmer, C. A., Feigenbaum, F., Tornatore, C., Tufaro, F. & Martuza, R. L.: Conditionally replicating herpes simplex virus mutant, G207 for the treatment of malignant glioma: results of a phase I trial. *Gene Ther* 7, 867-874 (2000)

39. Rampling, R., Cruickshank, G., Papanastassiou, V., Nicoll, J., Hadley, D., Brennan, D., Petty, R., MacLean, A., Harland, J., McKie, E., Mabbs, R. & Brown, M.: Toxicity evaluation of replication-competent herpes simplex virus (ICP 34.5 null mutant 1716) in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *Gene Ther* 7, 859-866 (2000)

40. Louis, N., Fender, P., Barge, A., Kitts, P. & Chroboczek, J.: Cell-binding domain of adenovirus serotype 2 fiber. *J Virol* 68, 4104-4106. (1994)

41. Henry, L. J., Xia, D., Wilke, M. E., Deisenhofer, J. & Gerard, R. D.: Characterization of the knob domain of the adenovirus type 5 fiber protein expressed in Escherichia coli. *J Virol* 68, 5239-5246. (1994)

42. Varga, M. J., Weibull, C. & Everitt, E.: Infectious entry pathway of adenovirus type 2. *J Virol* 65, 6061-6070. (1991)

43. Greber, U. F., Willetts, M., Webster, P. & Helenius, A.: Stepwise dismantling of adenovirus 2 during entry into cells. *Cell* 75, 477-486. (1993)

44. Norman, K. L., Farassati, F. & Lee, P. W.: Oncolytic viruses and cancer therapy. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 12, 271-282. (2001)

45. Chakravarti, D., Ogryzko, V., Kao, H. Y., Nash, A., Chen, H., Nakatani, Y. & Evans, R. M.: A viral mechanism for inhibition of p300 and PCAF acetyltransferase activity. *Cell* 96, 393-403. (1999)

46. Yew, P. R. & Berk, A. J.: Inhibition of p53 transactivation required for transformation by adenovirus early 1B protein. *Nature* 357, 82-85. (1992)

47. White, E., Cipriani, R., Sabbatini, P. & Denton, A.: Adenovirus E1B 19-kilodalton protein overcomes the cytotoxicity of E1A proteins. *J Virol* 65, 2968-2978 (1991) 48. White, E., Sabbatini, P., Debbas, M., Wold, W. S., Kusher, D. I. & Gooding, L. R.: The 19-kilodalton adenovirus E1B transforming protein inhibits programmed cell death and prevents cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Mol Cell Biol* 12, 2570-2580 (1992)

49. Tollefson, A. E., Ryerse, J. S., Scaria, A., Hermiston, T. W. & Wold, W. S.: The E3-11.6-kDa adenovirus death protein (ADP) is required for efficient cell death: characterization of cells infected with adp mutants. *Virology* 220, 152-162. (1996)

50. Hermiston, T. W., Tripp, R. A., Sparer, T., Gooding, L. R. & Wold, W. S.: Deletion mutation analysis of the adenovirus type 2 E3-gp19K protein: identification of sequences within the endoplasmic reticulum lumenal domain that are required for class I antigen binding and protection from adenovirus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Virol* 67, 5289-5298. (1993)

51. Dimitrov, T., Krajcsi, P., Hermiston, T. W., Tollefson, A. E., Hannink, M. & Wold, W. S.: Adenovirus E3-10.4K/14.5K protein complex inhibits tumor necrosis factor-induced translocation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 to membranes. *J Virol* 71, 2830-2837. (1997)

52. Smith, R. R., Huebner, R. J., Rowe, P. W., Schatten, W. E. & B., T. L.: Studies on the use of viruses in the treatment of carcinoma of the cervix *Cancer* 9, 1211-1218 (1956)

53. Bischoff, J. R., Kirn, D. H., Williams, A., Heise, C., Horn, S., Muna, M., Ng, L., Nye, J. A., Sampson-Johannes, A., Fattaey, A. & McCormick, F.: An adenovirus mutant that replicates selectively in p53-deficient human tumor cells. *Science* 274, 373-376. (1996)

54. Whyte, P., Ruley, H. E. & Harlow, E.: Two regions of the adenovirus early region 1A proteins are required for transformation. *J Virol* 62, 257-265. (1988)

55. Fueyo, J., Gomez-Manzano, C., Alemany, R., Lee, P. S., McDonnell, T. J., Mitlianga, P., Shi, Y. X., Levin, V. A., Yung, W. K. & Kyritsis, A. P.: A mutant oncolytic adenovirus targeting the Rb pathway produces anti-glioma effect in vivo. *Oncogene* 19, 2-12 (2000)

56. Heise, C., Hermiston, T., Johnson, L., Brooks, G., Sampson-Johannes, A., Williams, A., Hawkins, L. & Kirn, D.: An adenovirus E1A mutant that demonstrates potent and selective systemic anti-tumoral efficacy. *Nat Med* 6, 1134-1139 (2000)

57. Khuri, F. R., Nemunaitis, J., Ganly, I., Arseneau, J., Tannock, I. F., Romel, L., Gore, M., Ironside, J., MacDougall, R. H., Heise, C., Randlev, B., Gillenwater, A. M., Bruso, P., Kaye, S. B., Hong, W. K. & Kirn, D. H.: a controlled trial of intratumoral ONYX-015, a selectively-replicating adenovirus, in combination with cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil in patients with recurrent head and neck cancer. Nat Med 6, 879-885 (2000)

58. Kirn, D., Hermiston, T. & McCormick, F.: ONYX-015: clinical data are encouraging. Nat Med 4, 1341-1342 (1998)

59. Gromeier, M., Lachmann, S., Rosenfeld, M. R., Gutin, P. H. & Wimmer, E.: Intergeneric poliovirus recombinants for the treatment of malignant glioma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 6803-6808. (2000)

60. Douglas, J. T., Rogers, B. E., Rosenfeld, M. E., Michael, S. I., Feng, M. & Curiel, D. T.: Targeted gene delivery by tropism-modified adenoviral vectors. *Nat Biotechnol* 14, 1574-1578. (1996)

61. Miller, C. R., Buchsbaum, D. J., Reynolds, P. N., Douglas, J. T., Gillespie, G. Y., Mayo, M. S., Raben, D. & Curiel, D. T.: Differential susceptibility of primary and established human glioma cells to adenovirus infection: targeting via the epidermal growth factor receptor achieves fiber receptor-independent gene transfer. *Cancer Res* 58, 5738-5748. (1998)

62. Wickham, T. J., Roelvink, P. W., Brough, D. E. & Kovesdi, I.: Adenovirus targeted to heparan-containing receptors increases its gene delivery efficiency to multiple cell types. *Nat Biotechnol* 14, 1570-1573. (1996)

63. Laquerre, S., Anderson, D. B., Stolz, D. B. & Glorioso, J. C.: Recombinant herpes simplex virus type 1 engineered for targeted binding to erythropoietin receptor-bearing cells. *J Virol* 72, 9683-9697. (1998)

64. Hong, J. S. & Engler, J. A.: Domains required for assembly of adenovirus type 2 fiber trimers. *J Virol* 70, 7071-7078. (1996)

65. Barry, M. A., Dower, W. J. & Johnston, S. A.: Toward cell-targeting gene therapy vectors: selection of cellbinding peptides from random peptide-presenting phage libraries. *Nat Med* 2, 299-305. (1996)

66. Goldstein, D. J. & Weller, S. K.: Factor (s) present in herpes simplex virus type 1-infected cells can compensate for the loss of the large subunit of the viral ribonucleotide reductase: characterization of an ICP6 deletion mutant. *Virology* 166, 41-51 (1988)

67. Mineta, T., Rabkin, S. D. & Martuza, R. L.: Treatment of malignant gliomas using ganciclovir-hypersensitive, ribonucleotide reductase-deficient herpes simplex viral mutant. *Cancer Res* 54, 3963-3966. (1994)

68. Yoon, S. S., Nakamura, H., Carroll, N. M., Bode, B. P., Chiocca, E. A. & Tanabe, K. K.: An oncolytic herpes simplex virus type 1 selectively destroys diffuse liver metastases from colon carcinoma. *Faseb J* 14, 301-311. (2000)

69. Boviatsis, E. J., Park, J. S., Sena-Esteves, M., Kramm, C. M., Chase, M., Efird, J. T., Wei, M. X., Breakefield, X. O. & Chiocca, E. A.: Long-term survival of rats harboring brain neoplasms treated with ganciclovir and a herpes simplex virus vector that retains an intact thymidine kinase gene. *Cancer Res* 54, 5745-5751. (1994)

70. Andreansky, S. S., He, B., Gillespie, G. Y., Soroceanu, L., Markert, J., Chou, J., Roizman, B. & Whitley, R. J.: The application of genetically engineered herpes simplex viruses to the treatment of experimental brain tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 11313-11318. (1996)

71. Chou, J., Kern, E. R., Whitley, R. J. & Roizman, B.: Mapping of herpes simplex virus-1 neurovirulence to gamma 134.5, a gene nonessential for growth in culture. *Science* 250, 1262-1266. (1990)

72. He, B., Gross, M. & Roizman, B.: The gamma (1)34.5 protein of herpes simplex virus 1 complexes with protein phosphatase 1alpha to dephosphorylate the alpha subunit of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 and preclude the shutoff of protein synthesis by double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94, 843-848. (1997)

73. Clemens, M. J. & Elia, A.: The double-stranded RNAdependent protein kinase PKR: structure and function. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* 17, 503-524. (1997) 74. Dudley, D. T., Pang, L., Decker, S. J., Bridges, A. J. & Saltiel, A. R.: A synthetic inhibitor of the mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92, 7686-7689. (1995)

75. Gibbs, J. B., Graham, S. L., Hartman, G. D., Koblan, K. S., Kohl, N. E., Omer, C. A. & Oliff, A.: Farnesyltransferase inhibitors versus Ras inhibitors. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 1, 197-203. (1997)

76. Mineta, T., Rabkin, S. D., Yazaki, T., Hunter, W. D. & Martuza, R. L.: Attenuated multi-mutated herpes simplex virus-1 for the treatment of malignant gliomas. *Nat Med* 1, 938-943. (1995)

77. Kooby, D. A., Carew, J. F., Halterman, M. W., Mack, J. E., Bertino, J. R., Blumgart, L. H., Federoff, H. J. & Fong, Y.: Oncolytic viral therapy for human colorectal cancer and liver metastases using a multi-mutated herpes simplex virus type-1 (G207) *Faseb J* 13, 1325-1334. (1999)

78. Coukos, G., Makrigiannakis, A., Kang, E. H., Caparelli, D., Benjamin, I., Kaiser, L. R., Rubin, S. C., Albelda, S. M. & Molnar-Kimber, K. L.: Use of carrier cells to deliver a replication-selective herpes simplex virus-1 mutant for the intraperitoneal therapy of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 5, 1523-1537. (1999)

79. Toda, M., Rabkin, S. D. & Martuza, R. L.: Treatment of human breast cancer in a brain metastatic model by G207, a replication-competent multimutated herpes simplex virus 1. *Hum Gene Ther* 9, 2177-2185. (1998)

80. Walker, J. R., McGeagh, K. G., Sundaresan, P., Jorgensen, T. J., Rabkin, S. D. & Martuza, R. L.: Local and systemic therapy of human prostate adenocarcinoma with the conditionally replicating herpes simplex virus vector G207. *Hum Gene Ther* 10, 2237-2243. (1999)

81. Chahlavi, A., Todo, T., Martuza, R. L. & Rabkin, S. D.: Replication-competent herpes simplex virus vector G207 and cisplatin combination therapy for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Neoplasia* 1, 162-169. (1999)

82. Randazzo, B. P., Bhat, M. G., Kesari, S., Fraser, N. W. & Brown, S. M.: Treatment of experimental subcutaneous human melanoma with a replication-restricted herpes simplex virus mutant. *J Invest Dermatol* 108, 933-937. (1997)

83. Oyama, M., Ohigashi, T., Hoshi, M., Nakashima, J., Tachibana, M., Murai, M., Uyemura, K. & Yazaki, T.: Intravesical and intravenous therapy of human bladder cancer by the herpes vector G207. *Hum Gene Ther* 11, 1683-1693. (2000)

84. Barker, D. D. & Berk, A. J.: Adenovirus proteins from both E1B reading frames are required for transformation of rodent cells by viral infection and DNA transfection. *Virology* 156, 107-121. (1987)

85. Fulci, G., Ishii, N. & Van Meir, E. G.: p53 and brain tumors: from gene mutations to gene therapy. *Brain Pathol* 8, 599-613. (1998)

86. Fulci, G. & Van Meir, E. G.: p53 and the CNS: tumors and developmental abnormalities. *Mol Neurobiol* 19, 61-77. (1999)

87. Heise, C., Sampson-Johannes, A., Williams, A., McCormick, F., Von Hoff, D. D. & Kirn, D. H.: ONYX-015, an E1B gene-attenuated adenovirus, causes tumorspecific cytolysis and antitumoral efficacy that can be augmented by standard chemotherapeutic agents. *Nat Med* 3, 639-645. (1997)

88. Rogulski, K. R., Freytag, S. O., Zhang, K., Gilbert, J. D., Paielli, D. L., Kim, J. H., Heise, C. C. & Kirn, D. H.: In vivo antitumor activity of ONYX-015 is influenced by p53 status and is augmented by radiotherapy. *Cancer Res* 60, 1193-1196. (2000)

89. Hall, A. R., Dix, B. R., O'Carroll, S. J. & Braithwaite, A. W.: p53-dependent cell death/apoptosis is required for a productive adenovirus infection. *Nat Med* 4, 1068-1072. (1998)

90. Rothmann, T., Hengstermann, A., Whitaker, N. J., Scheffner, M. & zur Hausen, H.: Replication of ONYX-015, a potential anticancer adenovirus, is independent of p53 status in tumor cells. *J Virol* 72, 9470-9478. (1998)

91. Goodrum, F. D. & Ornelles, D. A.: p53 status does not determine outcome of E1B 55-kilodalton mutant adenovirus lytic infection. *J Virol* 72, 9479-9490. (1998)

92. Turnell, A. S., Grand, R. J. & Gallimore, P. H.: The replicative capacities of large E1B-null group A and group C adenoviruses are independent of host cell p53 status. *J Virol* 73, 2074-2083. (1999)

93. Kratzer, F., Rosorius, O., Heger, P., Hirschmann, N., Dobner, T., Hauber, J. & Stauber, R. H.: The adenovirus type 5 E1B-55K oncoprotein is a highly active shuttle protein and shuttling is independent of E4orf6, p53 and Mdm2. *Oncogene* 19, 850-857. (2000)

94. McCormick, F.: ONYX-015 selectivity and the p14ARF pathway. *Oncogene* 19, 6670-6672 (2000)

95. Fulci, G., Labuhn, M., Maier, D., Lachat, Y., Hausmann, O., Hegi, M. E., Janzer, R. C., Merlo, A. & Van Meir, E. G.: p53 gene mutation and ink4a-arf deletion appear to be two mutually exclusive events in human glioblastoma. *Oncogene* 19, 3816-3822. (2000)

96. Ramachandra, M., Rahman, A., Zou, A., Vaillancourt, M., Howe, J. A., Antelman, D., Sugarman, B., Demers, G. W., Engler, H., Johnson, D. & Shabram, P.: Re-engineering adenovirus regulatory pathways to enhance oncolytic specificity and efficacy. *Nat Biotechnol* 19, 1035-1041. (2001)

97. Sherr, C. J.: The Pezcoller lecture: cancer cell cycles revisited. *Cancer Res* 60, 3689-3695. (2000)

98. Miyatake, S., Iyer, A., Martuza, R. L. & Rabkin, S. D.: Transcriptional targeting of herpes simplex virus for cellspecific replication. *J Virol* 71, 5124-5132. (1997)

99. Sacks, W. R., Greene, C. C., Aschman, D. P. & Schaffer, P. A.: Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 is an essential regulatory protein. *J Virol* 55, 796-805. (1985)

100. DeLuca, N. A., McCarthy, A. M. & Schaffer, P. A.: Isolation and characterization of deletion mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 in the gene encoding immediate-early regulatory protein ICP4. *J Virol* 56, 558-570. (1985)

101. Tilghman, S. M. & Belayew, A.: Transcriptional control of the murine albumin/alpha-fetoprotein locus during development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 79, 5254-5257. (1982)

102. Chung, R. Y., Saeki, Y. & Chiocca, E. A.: B-myb promoter retargeting of herpes simplex virus gamma34.5 gene-mediated virulence toward tumor and cycling cells. *J Virol* 73, 7556-7564 (1999)

103. Nakamura, H., Kasuya, H., Mullen, J. T., Yoon, S. S., Pawlik, T. M., Chandrasekhar, S., Donahue, J. M., Chiocca,

E. A., Chung, R. Y. & Tanabe, K. K.: Regulation of herpes simplex virus gamma (1)34.5 expression and oncolysis of diffuse liver metastases by Myb34.5. *J Clin Invest* 109, 871-882 (2002)

104. Hallenbeck, P. L., Chang, Y. N., Hay, C., Golightly, D., Stewart, D., Lin, J., Phipps, S. & Chiang, Y. L.: A novel tumor-specific replication-restricted adenoviral vector for gene therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma *Hum Gene Ther* 10, 1721-1733. (1999)

105. Camper, S. A. & Tilghman, S. M.: The activation and silencing of gene transcription in the liver. *Biotechnology* 16, 81-87 (1991)

106. Rodriguez, R., Schuur, E. R., Lim, H. Y., Henderson, G. A., Simons, J. W. & Henderson, D. R.: Prostate attenuated replication competent adenovirus (ARCA) CN706: a selective cytotoxic for prostate-specific antigenpositive prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 57, 2559-2563. (1997)

107. Kurihara, T., Brough, D. E., Kovesdi, I. & Kufe, D. W.: Selectivity of a replication-competent adenovirus for human breast carcinoma cells expressing the MUC1 antigen. *J Clin Invest* 106, 763-771. (2000)

108. Kufe, D., Inghirami, G., Abe, M., Hayes, D., Justi-Wheeler, H. & Schlom, J.: Differential reactivity of a novel monoclonal antibody (DF3) with human malignant versus benign breast tumors. *Hybridoma* 3, 223-232. (1984)

109. Friedman, E. L., Hayes, D. F. & Kufe, D. W.: Reactivity of monoclonal antibody DF3 with a high molecular weight antigen expressed in human ovarian carcinomas. *Cancer Res* 46, 5189-5194. (1986)

110. Yu, D. C., Sakamoto, G. T. & Henderson, D. R.: Identification of the transcriptional regulatory sequences of human kallikrein 2 and their use in the construction of calydon virus 764, an attenuated replication competent adenovirus for prostate cancer therapy. *Cancer Res* 59, 1498-1504. (1999)

111. Yu, D. C., Chen, Y., Seng, M., Dilley, J. & Henderson, D. R.: The addition of adenovirus type 5 region E3 enables calydon virus 787 to eliminate distant prostate tumor xenografts. *Cancer Res* 59, 4200-4203 (1999)

112. Smith, E. R. & Chiocca, E. A.: Oncolytic viruses as novel anticancer agents: turning one scourge against another. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 9, 311-327. (2000)

113. Wildner, O., Blaese, R. M. & Morris, J. C.: Therapy of colon cancer with oncolytic adenovirus is enhanced by the addition of herpes simplex virus-thymidine kinase. *Cancer Res* 59, 410-413 (1999)

114. Wildner, O. & Morris, J. C.: The role of the E1B 55 kDa gene product in oncolytic adenoviral vectors expressing herpes simplex virus-tk: assessment of antitumor efficacy and toxicity. *Cancer Res* 60, 4167-4174 (2000)

115. Carroll, N. M., Chase, M., Chiocca, E. A. & Tanabe, K. K.: The effect of ganciclovir on herpes simplex virusmediated oncolysis. *J Surg Res* 69, 413-417 (1997)

116. Lambright, E. S., Amin, K., Wiewrodt, R., Force, S. D., Lanuti, M., Propert, K. J., Litzky, L., Kaiser, L. R. & Albelda, S. M.: Inclusion of the herpes simplex thymidine kinase gene in a replicating adenovirus does not augment antitumor efficacy. *Gene Ther* 8, 946-953 (2001)

117. Aghi, M., Chou, T. C., Suling, K., Breakefield, X. O. & Chiocca, E. A.: Multimodal cancer treatment mediated

by a replicating oncolytic virus that delivers the oxazaphosphorine/rat cytochrome P450 2B1 and ganciclovir/herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene therapies. *Cancer Res* 59, 3861-3865 (1999)

118. Chase, M., Chung, R. Y. & Chiocca, E. A.: An oncolytic viral mutant that delivers the CYP2B1 transgene and augments cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. *Nat Biotechnol* 16, 444-448 (1998)

119. Ikeda, K., Ichikawa, T., Wakimoto, H., Silver, J. S., Deisboeck, T. S., Finkelstein, D., Harsh, G. R., Louis, D. N., Bartus, R. T., Hochberg, F. H. & Chiocca, E. A.: Oncolytic virus therapy of multiple tumors in the brain requires suppression of innate and elicited antiviral responses. *Nat Med* 5, 881-887. (1999)

120. Freytag, S. O., Rogulski, K. R., Paielli, D. L., Gilbert, J. D. & Kim, J. H.: A novel three-pronged approach to kill cancer cells selectively: concomitant viral, double suicide gene, and radiotherapy. *Hum Gene Ther* 9, 1323-1333 (1998)

121. Post, D. E. & Van Meir, E. G.: Generation of bidirectional hypoxia/HIF-responsive expression vectors to target gene expression to hypoxic cells. *Gene Ther* 8, 1801-1807 (2001)

122. Sauthoff, H., Heitner, S., Rom, W. N. & Hay, J. G.: Deletion of the adenoviral E1b-19kD gene enhances tumor cell killing of a replicating adenoviral vector. *Hum Gene Ther* 11, 379-388 (2000)

123. Harrison, D., Sauthoff, H., Heitner, S., Jagirdar, J., Rom, W. N. & Hay, J. G.: Wild-type adenovirus decreases tumor xenograft growth, but despite viral persistence complete tumor responses are rarely achieved--deletion of the viral E1b-19-kD gene increases the viral oncolytic effect. *Hum Gene Ther* 12, 1323-1332 (2001)

124. Hawkins, L. K. & Hermiston, T.: Gene delivery from the E3 region of replicating human adenovirus: evaluation of the E3B region. *Gene Ther* 8, 1142-1148 (2001)

125. Hawkins, L. K. & Hermiston, T. W.: Gene delivery from the E3 region of replicating human adenovirus: evaluation of the ADP region. *Gene Ther* 8, 1132-1141 (2001)

126. Hawkins, L. K., Johnson, L., Bauzon, M., Nye, J. A., Castro, D., Kitzes, G. A., Young, M. D., Holt, J. K., Trown, P. & Hermiston, T. W.: Gene delivery from the E3 region of replicating human adenovirus: evaluation of the 6.7 K/gp19 K region. *Gene Ther* 8, 1123-1131 (2001)

127. Bennett, J. J., Malhotra, S., Wong, R. J., Delman, K., Zager, J., St-Louis, M., Johnson, P. & Fong, Y.: Interleukin 12 secretion enhances antitumor efficacy of oncolytic herpes simplex viral therapy for colorectal cancer. *Ann Surg* 233, 819-826 (2001)

128. Andreansky, S., He, B., van Cott, J., McGhee, J., Markert, J. M., Gillespie, G. Y., Roizman, B. & Whitley, R. J.: Treatment of intracranial gliomas in immunocompetent mice using herpes simplex viruses that express murine interleukins. *Gene Ther* 5, 121-130 (1998)

129. Todo, T., Martuza, R. L., Rabkin, S. D. & Johnson, P. A.: Oncolytic herpes simplex virus vector with enhanced MHC class I presentation and tumor cell killing *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 6396-6401 (2001)

130. Jennings, S. R., Rice, P. L., Kloszewski, E. D., Anderson, R. W., Thompson, D. L. & Tevethia, S. S.: Effect of herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 on surface expression of class I major histocompatibility complex antigens on infected cells. *J Virol* 56, 757-766 (1985)

131. Hill, A. B., Barnett, B. C., McMichael, A. J. & McGeoch, D. J.: HLA class I molecules are not transported to the cell surface in cells infected with herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2. *J Immunol* 152, 2736-2741 (1994)

132. York, I. A., Roop, C., Andrews, D. W., Riddell, S. R., Graham, F. L. & Johnson, D. C.: A cytosolic herpes simplex virus protein inhibits antigen presentation to CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Cell* 77, 525-535 (1994)

133. Hill, A., Jugovic, P., York, I., Russ, G., Bennink, J., Yewdell, J., Ploegh, H. & Johnson, D.: Herpes simplex virus turns off the TAP to evade host immunity. *Nature* 375, 411-415 (1995)

134. Fruh, K., Ahn, K., Djaballah, H., Sempe, P., van Endert, P. M., Tampe, R., Peterson, P. A. & Yang, Y.: A viral inhibitor of peptide transporters for antigen presentation. *Nature* 375, 415-418 (1995)

135. Zhang, J. F., Hu, C., Geng, Y., Selm, J., Klein, S. B., Orazi, A. & Taylor, M. W.: Treatment of a human breast cancer xenograft with an adenovirus vector containing an interferon gene results in rapid regression due to viral oncolysis and gene therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 4513-4518 (1996)

136. Mastrangelo, M. J., Maguire, H. C., Jr., Eisenlohr, L. C., Laughlin, C. E., Monken, C. E., McCue, P. A., Kovatich, A. J. & Lattime, E. C.: Intratumoral recombinant GM-CSF-encoding virus as gene therapy in patients with cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer Gene Ther* 6, 409-422. (1999)

137. Raj, K., Ogston, P. & Beard, P.: Virus-mediated killing of cells that lack p53 activity. *Nature* 412, 914-917 (2001)

138. Kirn, D., Martuza, R. L. & Zwiebel, J.: Replicationselective virotherapy for cancer: Biological principles, risk management and future directions. *Nat Med* 7, 781-787. (2001)

139. Kirn, D.: Clinical research results with dl1520 (Onyx-015), a replication-selective adenovirus for the treatment of cancer: what have we learned? *Gene Ther* 8, 89-98 (2001)

140. Nemunaitis, J., Cunningham, C., Buchanan, A., Blackburn, A., Edelman, G., Maples, P., Netto, G., Tong, A., Randlev, B., Olson, S. & Kirn, D.: Intravenous infusion of a replication-selective adenovirus (ONYX-015) in cancer patients: safety, feasibility and biological activity. *Gene Ther* 8, 746-759 (2001)

141. Muldoon, L. L., Nilaver, G., Kroll, R. A., Pagel, M. A., Breakefield, X. O., Chiocca, E. A., Davidson, B. L., Weissleder, R. & Neuwelt, E. A.: Comparison of intracerebral inoculation and osmotic blood-brain barrier disruption for delivery of adenovirus, herpesvirus, and iron oxide particles to normal rat brain. *Am J Pathol* 147, 1840-1851 (1995)

142. Muldoon, L. L., Pagel, M. A., Kroll, R. A., Roman-Goldstein, S., Jones, R. S. & Neuwelt, E. A.: A physiological barrier distal to the anatomic blood-brain barrier in a model of transvascular delivery. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* 20, 217-222 (1999)

143. Kramm, C. M., Rainov, N. G., Sena-Esteves, M., Barnett, F. H., Chase, M., Herrlinger, U., Pechan, P. A., Chiocca, E. A. & Breakefield, X. O.: Long-term survival in a rodent model of disseminated brain tumors by combined intrathecal delivery of herpes vectors and ganciclovir treatment. *Hum Gene Ther* 7, 1989-1994 (1996)

144. Kramm, C. M., Rainov, N. G., Sena-Esteves, M., Chase, M., Pechan, P. A., Chiocca, E. A. & Breakefield, X. O.: Herpes vector-mediated delivery of marker genes to disseminated central nervous system tumors. *Hum Gene Ther* 7, 291-300 (1996)

145. Conry, R. M., Khazaeli, M. B., Saleh, M. N., Allen, K. O., Barlow, D. L., Moore, S. E., Craig, D., Arani, R. B., Schlom, J. & LoBuglio, A. F.: Phase I trial of a recombinant vaccinia virus encoding carcinoembryonic antigen in metastatic adenocarcinoma: comparison of intradermal versus subcutaneous administration. *Clin Cancer Res* 5, 2330-2337 (1999)

146. Eder, J. P., Kantoff, P. W., Roper, K., Xu, G. X., Bubley, G. J., Boyden, J., Gritz, L., Mazzara, G., Oh, W. K., Arlen, P., Tsang, K. Y., Panicali, D., Schlom, J. & Kufe, D. W.: A phase I trial of a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing prostate-specific antigen in advanced prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 6, 1632-1638 (2000)

147. Mukherjee, S., Haenel, T., Himbeck, R., Scott, B., Ramshaw, I., Lake, R. A., Harnett, G., Phillips, P., Morey, S., Smith, D., Davidson, J. A., Musk, A. W. & Robinson, B.: Replication-restricted vaccinia as a cytokine gene therapy vector in cancer: persistent transgene expression despite antibody generation. *Cancer Gene Ther* 7, 663-670. (2000)

148. Stohrer, M., Boucher, Y., Stangassinger, M. & Jain, R. K.: Oncotic pressure in solid tumors is elevated. *Cancer Res* 60, 4251-4255 (2000)

149. Hampl, M., Tanaka, T., Albert, P. S., Lee, J., Ferrari, N. & Fine, H. A.: Therapeutic effects of viral vectormediated antiangiogenic gene transfer in malignant ascites. *Hum Gene Ther* 12, 1713-1729 (2001)

150. Zinkernagel, R. M.: Immunology taught by viruses. *Science* 271, 173-178. (1996)

151. Ploegh, H. L.: Viral strategies of immune evasion. *Science* 280, 248-253. (1998)

152. Ikeda, K., Wakimoto, H., Ichikawa, T., Jhung, S., Hochberg, F. H., Louis, D. N. & Chiocca, E. A.: Complement depletion facilitates the infection of multiple brain tumors by an intravascular, replication-conditional herpes simplex virus mutant. *J Virol* 74, 4765-4775. (2000)

153. Wakimoto, H., Ikeda, K., Abe, T., Ichikawa, T., Hochberg, F. H., Ezekowitz, R. A., Pasternack, M. S. & Chiocca, E. A.: The complement response against an oncolytic virus is species-specific in its activation pathways. *Mol Ther* 5, 275-282. (2002)

154. Wodarz, D.: Viruses as antitumor weapons: defining conditions for tumor remission. *Cancer Res* 61, 3501-3507. (2001)

Key Words: Gene Therapy, Treatment, Tumors, Cancer, Virus, Oncolytic Virus, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr G. Fulci or E.A. Chiocca, Molecular Neuro-Oncology Laboratories, Massachusetts General Hospital-East Building, CNY6, 13th Street, Charlestown, MA 02129, Tel: 617-724-8319 or 617-7263779, Fax: 617-726-5079, E-mail: gfulci@partners.org or chiocca@helix.mgh.harvard.edu